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May 29, 2025

Via email only at county.clerk@mauicounty.us

Honorable Alice L. Lee, Chair
and Members of the Council

County of Maui
Wailuku, Hawai’1 96793

SUBJECT: Litigation Matter — Settlement Authorization: CONSERVATION COUNCIL
FOR HAWAI'l AND AMERICAN BIRD CONSERVANCY v. HAWAIIAN
ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC. AND MAUI ELECTRIC COMPANY LTD.
AND COUNTY OF MAUI; CIVIL 1:24-cv-00494-MWJS-WRP

Dear Chair Lee and Council Members:

Please find attached separately a Proposed Resolution entitled “4UTHORIZING
SETTLEMENT OF CONSERVATION COUNCIL FOR HAWAI'I AND AMERICAN BIRD
CONSERVANCY V. HAWAIIAN ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC. AND MAUI ELECTRIC
COMPANY LTD. AND COUNTY OF MAUI; CIVIL 1:24-cv-00494-MWJS-WRP.”

The purpose of the proposed resolution is to discuss settlement options with regards
to the above-referenced lawsuit.

Time of the essence, and so [ am respectfully requesting that the proposed resolution
be directly referred to the Government Relations, Ethics, and Transparency Committee for
discussion and action as soon as possible. For further information, I have also attached the
Complaint in this matter, which was filed on November 19, 2024, and Avian Rehabilitation
Infrastructure Buildout Updated March 2025.

Executive session will be necessary to discuss questions and issues pertaining to the
powers, duties, privileges, immunities, and liabilities of the County, the Council, and/or
the Committee.
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If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact us. Thank
you for your anticipated assistance in this matter.

Singdely,

Brian A. Bilberry
Deputy Corporation Counsel

Attachments:

(1) Proposed Resolution: “4UTHORIZING SETTLEMENT OF CONSERVATION
COUNCIL FOR HAWAI'l AND AMERICAN BIRD CONSERVANCY V.
HAWAIIAN ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC. AND MAUI ELECTRIC COMPANY
LTD. AND COUNTY OF MAUI; CIVIL 1:24-cv-00494-MWJS-WRP”

(2) Complaint filed November 19, 2024.

(3) Avian Rehabilitation Infrastructure Buildout Updated March 2025.
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DAVID L. HENKIN #6876
MAHESH CLEVELAND #11023
EARTHJUSTICE

850 Richards Street, Suite 400

Honolulu, Hawai‘i1 96813

T: (808) 599-2436

Email: dhenkin@earthjustice.org
mcleveland@earthjustice.org
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiffs Conservation Council for Hawai‘i and American Bird
Conservancy (collectively, “the Conservation Groups™) hereby complain of the
actions of Defendants Hawaiian Electric Company, Inc. and Maui Electric
Company, Ltd. (collectively, “the Company”) and Defendant County of Maui (“the
County”) as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. This case involves three critically imperiled seabirds that are native to
Hawai‘i and protected under the federal Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1531
et seq. (“ESA”). The Hawaiian Petrel (Pterodroma sandwichensis, listed as
endangered in 1967 and known in Hawaiian as ‘ua‘u) and the Newell’s Shearwater
(Puffinus newelli, listed as threatened in 1975 and known in Hawaiian as ‘a‘o) are
both endemic to Hawai‘i (i.e., they are found in Hawai‘i and nowhere else on
Earth). The Hawai‘i distinct population segment of Band-rumped Storm-petrels
(Hydrobates castro; known in Hawaiian as ‘aké‘ak€) was listed as endangered in

2016." The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has identified attraction to bright,

I'The ESA’s definition of “species” includes “any distinct population
segment of any species of vertebrate fish or wildlife which interbreeds when
mature.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(16).
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artificial lights as a threat to the continued survival and recovery of all three ESA-
listed seabird species.

2. ‘Ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘ake fly to and from their nests at night. They use
the moon and stars to navigate and are often distracted by artificial lights on their
way out to sea and when returning to land. Disoriented birds will circle artificial
lights until they fall to the ground from exhaustion or strike other human-made
structures (“fallout”). Once grounded, the seabirds have a hard time becoming
airborne and are susceptible to predation, starvation, dehydration, or vehicle
strikes. The risk of fallout from artificial lights is most acute during the fledging
season, which lasts from September to December, but fallout of adult birds can
occur whenever these imperiled seabirds are on-island.

3. Company-owned streetlights that the Company operates for the
County attract and cause unauthorized take of ESA-listed seabirds. Since as far
back as 1998, researchers have documented scores of unauthorized takes of ESA-
listed seabirds in Maui County from fallout that likely resulted from attraction to
streetlights. Due to the lack of dedicated searches, the actual toll on imperiled
seabirds is undoubtedly much higher.

4. The Conservation Groups bring this action to protect these threatened
and endangered birds by compelling compliance by the Company and the County

(collectively, “Defendants”) with their mandatory duties under the ESA.
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Specifically, as described more fully herein, the Conservation Groups seek a
declaratory judgment that, in the absence of a lawful incidental take permit, the
Company’s operation of streetlights in Maui County—under the County’s
direction—violates the ESA’s prohibition on unpermitted “take” of federally listed
species. The Conservation Groups also seek appropriate injunctive relief to protect
‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘ake€ in Maui County from further harm from Defendants’
illegal activities.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3 This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims for relief in
this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (action arising under the laws of the United
States); 16 U.S.C. § 1540(c) (action arising under the ESA); 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)
(citizen suit provisions of the ESA); and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 (power to issue
declaratory judgments in cases of actual controversy).

6. On January 30, 2024, the Conservation Groups mailed to Hawaiian
Electric Company, Maui Electric Company, and the County notices of intent to sue
detailing the violations of law alleged herein. Hawaiian Electric Company, Maui
Electric Company, and the County each received the notice letter on February 1,
2024.

7. On January 30, 2024, the Conservation Groups mailed to the

Secretary of the Interior a notice of intent to sue detailing the violations of law
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alleged herein. The Secretary of Interior received the notice letter on February 5,
2024.

8. At least sixty days have elapsed since the Conservation Groups gave
notice of their intent to sue, as required by ESA section 11(g)(2)(A), 16 U.S.C. §
1540(g)(2)(A).

9. The Conservation Groups have formally demanded that Defendants
bring their streetlight operations into compliance with the ESA, but Defendants
have failed and refused, and continue to fail and refuse, to do so. An actual
controversy therefore exists between the parties within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. §
2201 (declaratory judgments).

10.  Venue lies properly in this judicial district by virtue of 16 U.S.C. §
1540(g)(3)(A) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) because the violations are
occurring here, a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the
Conservation Groups’ claim occurred here, and Defendants reside here.

PARTIES

11.  Plaintiff Conservation Council for Hawai‘i (“CCH”) is a non-profit
citizens’ organization based in Hawai‘i with approximately 4,000 members in
Hawai‘i, the United States mainland, and foreign countries. CCH is the Hawai’i
affiliate of the National Wildlife Federation, a non-profit membership organization

with over 5.8 million members and supporters nationwide. CCH’s mission is to
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protect native Hawaiian species, including the ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘aké¢, and to
restore native Hawaiian ecosystems for future generations.

12.  To protect its interests in Hawai‘i’s imperiled seabirds and the
interests of its members and staff, CCH (together with co-plaintiff American Bird
Conservancy) filed lawsuits in 2010 to protect ‘va‘u and ‘a‘o from death and injury
associated with the activities of the Kaua‘i Island Company Cooperative (“KIUC”)
and the St. Regis Princeville Resort, including harm associated with attraction to
bright lights at facilities owned and operated by KIUC and at the St. Regis. The
plaintiffs’ lawsuit against KIUC resulted in KIUC securing incidental take permit
coverage for its harmful activities, while the plaintiffs’ lawsuit against St. Regis
culminated in a settlement pursuant to which the resort implemented measures to
reduce seabird attraction, committed to secure incidental take permit coverage, and
made monthly contributions to fund projects to benefit the imperiled seabirds. The
St. Regis has since obtained incidental take permit coverage.

13.  Since 2017, CCH also has been involved in efforts, including
litigation, to protect ESA-listed seabirds from harm associated with the bright
lights at the State of Hawai‘i Department of Transportation’s (“HDOT’s™) harbors
and airports on Maui, Lana‘i, and Kaua‘i. HDOT obtained incidental take permit

coverage for take of ESA-listed seabirds at its Kaua‘i facilities, and modified its
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lighting so as to minimize take. HDOT is in the process of seeking incidental take
permit coverage for its airports and harbors on Maui and Lana‘i.

14. In 2019, CCH brought a lawsuit against the County for implementing
a project to replace high pressure sodium streetlights with light-emitting diode
(“LED”) fixtures without first analyzing the impacts of the LED lights on
threatened and endangered wildlife, including the ESA-listed seabirds, as required
by the Hawai‘i Environmental Policy Act, Hawai‘i Revised Statutes chapter 343.
As aresult of this lawsuit, CCH secured an injunction halting the replacement
project pending the County’s review of the environmental effects of LED lights on
imperiled wildlife, and consideration of less harmful alternatives. The County also
agreed to dim the LED streetlights that were installed before the lawsuit was filed
to minimize harm to wildlife.

15.  In 2022 and 2024, CCH filed lawsuits in this Court seeking to enforce
the ESA to minimize and mitigate the unauthorized take of ‘ua‘u caused by bright
lights at the Grand Wailea Resort on Maui. In November 2024, CCH and co-
plaintiff American Bird Conservancy filed an ESA lawsuit in this Court seeking to
minimize and mitigate the unauthorized take of ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké&‘aké caused by
the Company’s power lines and lights at its facilities on Maui and Lana‘i.

16. In addition to undertaking litigation to protect ESA-listed seabirds in

Hawai‘i from injury and death, CCH and its members frequently advocate for
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management activities that protect and rehabilitate seabird breeding habitat
necessary for the survival and recovery of the species. For example, CCH was
involved in the creation of two Natural Area Reserves that protect ‘ua‘u and ‘a‘o
breeding and nesting habitat from predators and invasive species: Hono o Na Pali
on Kaua‘i and Nakula on Maui. CCH and its members also regularly advocate for
increased efforts to remove and exclude feral sheep, goats, deer, and pigs from
suitable habitat on state lands, as feral ungulates eat seabird eggs and chicks and
destroy the native vegetation that imperiled seabirds need to establish their nesting
colonies. Similarly, CCH and its members advocate for increased funding and
management activities to remove alien vegetation that endangers native Hawaiian
ecosystems that the ESA-listed seabirds use for breeding and nesting activities.

17.  To increase public support for wildlife protection and habitat
restoration, CCH conducts educational programs about Hawai‘i’s imperiled
wildlife. For example, as part of their Manu Kai (Seabird) Campaign, CCH
educates children about Hawai‘i’s seabirds and the threats that they face.

18.  CCH members include wildlife biologists, Native Hawaiian cultural
practitioners, fishers, educators, artists, community leaders and others who study,
observe, photograph, research, and enjoy ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘ake in the wild on a
regular and ongoing basis. CCH members include native Hawaiians seeking to

perpetuate traditional fishing practices that rely on native seabirds to locate schools
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of fish. CCH members who live outside of Hawai‘i visit the islands to observe and
enjoy Hawai‘i’s native wildlife, including the ESA-listed seabirds. CCH’s
members and staff derive scientific, cultural, recreational, conservation,
educational, and aesthetic benefits from the existence of these animals in the wild.
CCH brings this action on behalf of itself and its adversely affected members and
staff.

19.  Plaintiff American Bird Conservancy (“ABC”) is a non-profit
corporation dedicated to the conservation of wild birds and their habitats
throughout the Americas and in Hawai‘i. ABC’s Oceans & Islands Division —
Hawai‘i Program includes a specific focus on Hawai‘i’s endangered and threatened
birds, including the ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘aké. ABC advances bird conservation
through direct action and by building partnerships of conservation groups,
scientists, government agencies, and members of the public. ABC has
approximately 29,000 members nationwide, including members residing in
Hawai‘i. ABC’s members include conservationists, ornithologists, and birders,
among others. ABC members who live outside of Hawai‘i visit the islands to
observe, study, and enjoy Hawai‘i’s native wildlife, including the ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and
‘ake‘ake.

20. ABC has demonstrated long-standing commitment to protecting ‘ua‘u,

‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘akeé. ABC has worked to reduce the impacts of feral and free-
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ranging cats and other predators and to increase public awareness about Hawai‘i’s
imperiled seabirds through its website, magazine and newsletter, and special
reports, and as a contributor to the State of the Birds report.

21.  ABC has participated in litigation seeking to compel the Federal
Communications Commission to consult under the ESA regarding harm to ‘ua‘u
and ‘a‘o from striking communications towers in Hawai‘i. ABC also was a co-
plaintiff (with CCH) in the above-described lawsuits to protect ‘ua‘u and ‘a‘o from
death and injury associated with the activities of KIUC and the St. Regis
Princeville Resort (in 2010) and to enforce the ESA with respect to the Company’s
power lines and facility lights in Maui County (in 2024).

22.  Outside of the courtroom, ABC has advocated in support of a robust
ESA permitting and habitat conservation planning process for ‘va‘u, ‘a‘o, and
‘akeé‘ake on the island of Kaua‘i, and has worked directly with KIUC to ensure that
take caused by power lines and streetlights is minimized while KIUC’s long-term
habitat conservation plan is developed.

23.  ABC funds projects to create seabird habitat and keep it safe from
predators by installing predator-proof fencing around ideal nesting sites and
sometimes translocating birds to establish new colonies. On Kaua‘i, one such

project is completed, and is now home to translocated ‘ua‘u and ‘a‘o which have
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begun breeding at the new site. ABC is funding a similar project on Moloka‘i, the
fencing portion of which was completed in 2024.

24.  Defendants’ operations harm ABC and its members who conduct
research and conservation projects, monitor and observe birds on Maui, and have
interests in studying and protecting the endangered ‘ua‘u, the threatened ‘a‘o, and
the endangered ‘aké‘aké. ABC brings this action on behalf of itself and its
adversely affected members and staff.

25. The above-described aesthetic, conservation, recreational, scientific,
cultural, and educational interests of the Conservation Groups and their respective
members have been, are being, and, unless the relief prayed for herein is granted,
will continue to be adversely affected and irreparably injured by Defendants’
continued refusal to comply with their obligations under the ESA, as more fully set
forth below. The individual interests of the Conservation Groups’ members as well
as the Conservation Groups’ organizational interests are thus directly and
adversely affected by Defendants’ unlawful actions.

26. Defendant Hawaiian Electric Company, Inc. (“HECO”) is a
corporation that was organized under the laws of the Territory of Hawai‘i, and now
exists under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Hawai‘i. HECO owns and

operates streetlights in Maui County that cause take of listed seabirds.

10
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27.  Defendant Maui Electric Company, Ltd. (“MECO”) is a corporation
organized under the laws of the Territory of Hawai‘i, and now exists under and by
virtue of the laws of the State of Hawai‘i. The Conservation Groups are informed
and believe, and on the basis thereof allege, that MECO has been a subsidiary of
HECO since 1968, and directly operates HECO’s streetlights in Maui County.

28.  Defendant County of Maui is a municipal corporation and political
subdivision of the State of Hawai‘i. The Conservation Groups are informed and
believe, and on the basis thereof allege, that the County determines how and where
the Company operates streetlights along the County’s roads, including whether
those streetlights are modified to avoid or minimize fallout of ESA-listed seabirds.

LEGAL FRAMEWORK

29.  “[T]he Endangered Species Act of 1973 represented the most
comprehensive legislation for the preservation of endangered species ever enacted
by any nation.” Tennessee Valley Authority v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 180 (1978). In
furtherance of Congress’ goal to conserve species, the ESA generally prohibits the
“take” of any species listed as endangered or threatened. 16 U.S.C. §

1538(a)(1)(B); 50 C.F.R. §§ 17.21, 17.31(a).2

2 As noted above, the ESA’s definition of “species” includes distinct
population segments. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(16).

11
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30. The ESA’s prohibition on “take” includes actions that “harass,”
“harm” and “kill” listed species. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). The ESA’s regulations
define “harass” as “an intentional or negligent act or omission which creates the
likelihood of injury to wildlife by annoying it to such an extent as to significantly
disrupt normal behavioral patterns which include, but are not limited to, breeding,
feeding, or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3. “Harm” is defined as “an act which
actually kills or injures wildlife.” /d.

31.  To comply with the ESA, Defendants’ activities may not “take” any
endangered ‘ua‘u, threatened ‘a‘o, or endangered ‘ake‘aké unless Defendants first
obtain and comply with the terms of an incidental take permit in accordance with
ESA section 10(a), 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a).

32.  The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service may not issue an incidental take
permit unless it first concludes that a permit applicant’s activities will not
“appreciably reduce the likelihood of the survival and recovery of [any endangered
or threatened] species in the wild.” 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(B)(iv).

33. The ESA further conditions the issuance of an incidental take permit
on the applicant developing and committing to implement a habitat conservation
plan that, among other things, minimizes and mitigates the impacts of any
incidental take of endangered or threatened species to the maximum extent

practicable. Id. § 1539(a)(2)(A)(ii), (B)(ii).

12
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BACKGROUND FACTS

Photo: Jim Denny

34. The ‘ua‘u (Pterodroma sandwichensis) is an endemic Hawaiian
seabird that forages widely across the central, northern, and eastern Pacific Ocean
for squid, fish, and crustaceans. The ‘ua‘u was listed as an endangered species in

1967.3

3 At the time of listing, the ‘ua‘u was known as the Hawaiian Dark-rumped
Petrel (Pterodroma phaeopygia sandwichensis). See 32 Fed. Reg. 4,001 (Mar. 11,
1967); 75 Fed. Reg. 9,282, 9,286 (Mar. 1, 2010).

13
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35.  Satellite-tagged ‘ua‘u have been tracked traveling more than 10,000
kilometers on a single foraging trip to and from their breeding colonies in the main
Hawaiian Islands.

36. The largest ‘uva‘u breeding colonies are located on Maui, in and
around Haleakala crater, and on Lana‘i. The ‘ua‘u also has smaller remnant
breeding colonies on Hawai‘i Island and on Kaua‘i, and possibly also on O‘ahu
and Moloka‘“i.

37.  On Haleakala, where the soil is dry and vegetation is scarce, ‘ua‘u
nest in cavitities in the volcanic terrain, such as cracked lava tubes and crevices,
and dig burrows where sufficient soil exists. On Lana‘i, west Maui, and east Maui
below 8,000 feet, ‘ua‘u nest within the valleys and uplands, where the birds
excavate burrows beneath dense vegetation along valley headwalls, favoring steep
slopes covered with uluhe fern.

38.  ‘Ua‘uhave a low reproductive rate. They lay only one egg per year,
do not breed until five or six years of age, and, once mature, may not breed every
year.

39.  On Haleakala, ‘ua‘u begin arriving on breeding grounds to pair in
mid-February. Egg-laying generally occurs in April and May. On Lana‘i and in

west Maui, ‘ua‘u arrive in March-April and lay eggs in June.

14
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40.  ‘Ua‘u chicks hatch in July and August. Male and female parents share
in both egg incubation and feeding their chick. Thus, if either one of the parents is
killed, the chick will die too. After a chick hatches, its parents briefly stay and
brood the chick before beginning a routine of extended ocean foraging and feeding.
After approximately 90 to 120 days, the parents will abandon their young, around
September or October of each year, and leave the nesting colony until the next
breeding season.

41. Fledging begins in late September on Haleakala and in late October
on Lana‘i and in west Maui. By December, adult and successful fledging birds
have left Hawai‘i. Once the chicks leave, they may not return to land for up to six
years, when they return to prospect for nests and a mate.

42.  There are currently only an estimated 4,000-5,000 breeding pairs of
‘ua‘u on Maui, but overall population trends are inconclusive, and updated global
population estimates do not currently exist for the species.

43.  Protection of known breeding colonies and island-specific

metapopulations is critical to the survival of the species.

15
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Photo: Jim Denny

44.  The ‘a‘o (Puffinus newelli) is endemic to Hawai‘i and was listed as a
threatened species in 1975.4

45.  ‘A‘o forage over deep water, generally hundreds of kilometers out to
sea, feeding by diving several meters below the ocean’s surface to retrieve squid
and fish.

46. “A‘o colonies are found at high elevations inland, with nests often
located under dense vegetation in open native forest dominated by ‘6hia, with a

dense understory of uluhe fern.

* At the time of listing, the ‘a‘o was known as the Newell’s Manx
Shearwater (Puffinus puffinus newelli). See 40 Fed. Reg. 44,149 (Sept. 25, 1975);
88 Fed. Reg. 7,134, 7,139 (Feb. 2, 2023).

16
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47.  Typical of its family, the ‘a‘o has a low rate of reproduction. First
breeding does not occur until approximately six years of age, and breeding pairs
produce only one egg per year. Pairs may or may not breed every year.

48.  The ‘a‘o’s breeding season begins in April, when birds return from
foraging at sea to previously used nest sites or to prospect for new sites. Egg-laying
begins in the first two weeks of June and continues through the early part of July.
A single egg is laid at the end of a long burrow, and one adult bird remains on the
egg while the second adult goes to sea to feed. Like with the ‘ua‘u, the death of one
parent ‘a‘o results in the death of the chick. The chick growth period lasts
approximately ninety days. Fledging season begins in September, and peaks in
October and November, depending on island location.

49.  Once the chick has hatched and has been brooded for a few days, both
parents will go to sea to provide the growing chick with a supply of food.

50.  ‘A‘o arrive and leave their burrows during darkness, and the birds are
rarely seen near land during daylight hours.

51.  The ‘a‘o population was estimated in the 1990s at around 19,000
breeding pairs, but, since then, is estimated to have decreased by around 75% on
Kaua‘i, where about 90% of the remaining ‘a‘o are found.

52.  Protection of known breeding colonies and island-specific

metapopulations is critical to the survival of the species.

17
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‘Aké‘ake

Photo: Mike Danzenbaker

53. The ‘ak& akg, which is the Hawai‘i Distinct Population Segment of
the Band-rumped Storm-petrel (Hydrobates castro), was listed as an endangered
species in 2016.°

54.  ‘Ake‘ake range throughout the Pacific Ocean basin and return to

Hawai‘i to nest and breed.

5> At the time of listing, the ‘aké‘aké’s scientific name was Oceanodroma
castro. See 81 Fed. Reg. 67,786 (Sept. 30, 2016); 88 Fed. Reg. 7,134, 7,139 (Feb.
2,2023).

18
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55.  ‘Ake‘ake can live up to 20 years in the wild and do not breed until
they are 3 to 7 years old. ‘Aké‘ake lay a single egg per season. Eggs are laid
between May and June, and nestlings fledge in October.

56.  ‘Ake‘ake prefer to nest in crevices high on cliff faces or lava flows
and fly to their nesting sites under cover of darkness to avoid attracting predators.
The birds have been documented nesting on the steep cliffs of Kaua‘i and on the
slopes of Mauna [Loa on Hawai‘i Island. They have also been recorded on Lehua,
Maui, and Lana‘i, indicating the presence of breeding colonies on those islands.

57.  When not at their nesting sites, ‘aké‘aké spend their time foraging on
the open ocean for small fish, squid, and crustaceans. They have been observed
feeding during daylight hours, but also feed at night.

58.  Due to difficulties in studying this small and elusive species, the
number of ‘aké‘aké breeding in Hawai‘i is unknown but is thought to be in the low
hundreds.

59.  Protection of breeding colonies and island-specific metapopulations is
critical to the survival of the species.

Defendants’ Activities “Take” ESA-Listed Seabirds

60. Attraction to bright lights, including the streetlights that the Company
operates under the County’s direction, is a major threat to the continued survival

and recovery of the ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘aké‘ake.

19
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61. ‘Ua‘u, ‘a‘o, and ‘ake‘ake use the moon and stars to navigate and are
often distracted by artificial lights on their way out to sea or when returning to
land.

62. Disoriented birds will circle artificial lights until they fall to the
ground from exhaustion or strike other human-made structures (“fallout”). Once
grounded, the seabirds have a hard time becoming airborne, and are susceptible to
predation, starvation, dehydration, or vehicle strikes.

63.  The risk of fallout from artificial lights is most acute during the
fledging season, which typically lasts from September to December, but fallout of
adult birds can occur whenever ESA-listed seabirds are returning to or departing
from their island nesting colonies.

64.  Streetlights in Maui County attract and cause unauthorized take of
ESA-listed seabirds. In 1998, the Hawai‘1 Division of Forestry and Wildlife
documented an ‘a‘o striking a MECO-operated streetlight in Pa‘ia. Since 2009, the
Maui Nui Seabird Recovery Project, which works to help the Hawai‘i Department
of Land and Natural Resources fulfill its duty to manage and protect seabirds and
their habitats in Maui Nui, has documented scores of unauthorized takes of ESA-
listed seabirds in Maui County from fallout that likely resulted from attraction to

streetlights that the Company operates under the County’s direction. Because there

20



Case 1:24-cv-00494-MWJS-WRP  Document 1 Filed 11/19/24 Page 22 of 24 PagelD.22

are no dedicated, systematic searches for downed birds, the actual toll on imperiled
seabirds is undoubtedly much higher than the documented take.

65. Defendants lack incidental take permits for the take of ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, or
‘aké‘ake associated with the operation of their streetlights. In the absence of a valid
incidental take permit, each ‘ua‘u, ‘a‘o, or ‘aké‘ake that is killed, injured, or
otherwise “taken” by Defendants’ activities constitutes an independent violation of
ESA section 9, 16 U.S.C. § 1538.

66. The County is aware of the illegal take of ESA-listed seabirds caused
by the streetlights that the Company operates under the County’s direction. In
2019, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service wrote to the County and warned that
outdoor lighting is known to result in seabird disorientation, fallout, and injury or
mortality. Noting that “existing Maui County streetlights” have “resulted in
documented take of listed seabirds,” the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
emphasized that the ESA prohibits all take of listed seabirds in the absence of an
incidental take permit. In the years since then, the County has taken no steps to
come into compliance with the ESA.

67. Without valid incidental take permits, Defendants have been violating,

and continue to violate, the ESA.
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CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(VIOLATION OF ESA PROHIBITION
ON UNAUTHORIZED TAKE — STREETLIGHTS)

68.  The Conservation Groups reallege and incorporate by this reference
the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

69. Defendants’ activities with respect to the Company-owned streetlights
on Maui and Lana‘i that the Company operates at the County’s direction have
“taken” and will continue to “take” endangered ‘ua‘u, threatened ‘a‘o, and
endangered ‘aké‘ake without incidental take permit coverage. Defendants’
unauthorized “take” has violated and is violating the ESA. 16 U.S.C. §

1538(a)(1)(B); 50 C.F.R. §§ 17.21, 17.31(a).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Conservation Groups respectfully request that the Court:

1. Enter a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ activities with respect
to the Company-owned streetlights on Maui and Lana‘i that the Company operates
at the County’s direction have violated and are violating the Endangered Species
Act by taking listed species without incidental take authorization;

2. Issue appropriate injunctive relief;

3. Award the Conservation Groups the costs of this litigation, including

reasonable attorney fees; and
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4. Provide such other relief as may be just and proper.

DATED: Honolulu, Hawai‘i, November 19, 2024.

/s/ Mahesh Cleveland
DAVID L. HENKIN
MAHESH CLEVELAND
EARTHIJUSTICE

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Conservation Council for Hawai‘i and
American Bird Conservancy
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Avian Rehabilitation Infrastructure Buildout

-
MARINE INSTITUTE Updated March 2025

MAU| OCEAN CENTER

In response to the inquiry from State, Federal, and local NGO’s The Marine Institute at the Maui Ocean Center (MOCMI) is pursuing funding to aid in the expansion
of our facility’s infrastructure to be able to accept avian rehabilitation patients from all of Maui Nui. This addition to MOCMI’s scope of work will fill a needed gap in
avian conservation on Maui. Currently, all avian species in need of extended rehabilitation care are flown to Hawai'i Island to go the The Hawai'i Wildlife Center
(HWC). Not only is HWC on a separate island, but the transit to the facility is also over two hours from Kona Airport, adding additional stress to the animalin need
of critical care. Furthermore, Maui is one of the last main Hawaiian Islands without a system in place to care for avian species in need of critical care. To address
this gap, MOCMI endeavors to partner with the State of Hawai'i’s Department of Forestry and Wildlife, U.S. Fish and Wildlife, and The Maui Nui Seabird Recovery
Project to establish Maui’s first avian rehabilitation center. In order to accomplish this, MOCMI aims to first expand it’s infrastructure to ameliorate our space
usage, creating the physical space to house and properly care for these birds.

Our current infrastructure includes; electrical power, both fresh and saltwater sources, effluent saltwater drains, sewer tie in, secure perimeter, and covered
outdoor areas to provide ample shade for patients. This expansion will include the extension of an overhead shade trellis structure, addition of an elevated deck
platform, installation of bird holding cages, and buildout of a shipping container into a food prep kitchen.

The extension of the overhead shade trellis will provide extended shade for our patients and team as well as the final base structure for the construction of an
elevated deck platform that will serve as the resting platform for our rehabilitation pools that can be used for both sea turtles and various avian species. This
overhead trellis structure will also serve as the frame for the installation of retractable screen dividers to safely contain the birds while having water time outside of
their holding cages. The elevated deck platform will provide space below the platform to run all effluent and inflow water lines making our space safer for staff,
volunteers, and visitors and will also ensure all rehab pools are level.

The placement and build out of a shipping container into a food preparation kitchen will improve our ability to prepare patient food in a safe, clean environment for
all animals under our care. This container will double as a food prep kitchen and storage area for the safe keeping of supplies. Furthermore, this storage area will
allow the shuffling of our current space usage, creating the space to install holding cages for the avian rehab patients under our care.

See preliminary detailed plans for build out of the shade structure, elevated deck, food prep kitchen, and holding cages on the following pages.

Please contact Dustin Paradis, Executive Director of The Marine Institute with any questions or further discussion: dustin@mocmarineinstitute.org
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Rehabilitation Area Upgrade

L Details Number Total
Patnhwa ~ Ramp Raised deck platform [25x35 $ 20,000.00 1/$  20,000.00
- ‘ Shade structure 25°x20" $  5,000.00 1$ 5,000.00
Foodprep kitchen 20' container $ 45,500.00 13 45,540.00
\ Avian holding cages |9 cages & screen area|$  15,000.00 13 15,000.00
Total $ 85,540.00 |

Raised deck platform

Shade sail structure over head

38 feet e

*Rehabilitation tanks are for display purposes only
and are not included in the provided budget

28 feet




Fridge

Freezer

Dry
& Pr
mat
Stor

goods
ep
erial
age

lement
ge cabinet
[
Partition wall & Pocket Door

Y

Food
Prep
surface

Additional
Storage

Shelving

—_—

Sink

Sub-counter
top Dish
washer

R o
A
ST

MARINE INSTITUTE

MAUI OCEAN CENTER

Shipping Container
Food Preparation Kitchen
Build Out

Food Prep Kitchen Items Details Number Cost Total
Fridge Standing fridge & freezer 11$ 750.00 [$ 750.00
[Freezer Standing Freezer 1|$ 750.00 |[$ 750.00
Work table 48"x30" stainless 11$  400.00 [$ 400.00
One compartment sink w/ drain board |72"x30" 11$ 2,000.00 |$ 2,000.00
Sink fixture Faucet mount & faucet 11$ 250.00 [$§ 250.00
IFood processor/blender Vitamix Blender and Food processor 1/$ 700.00 |$ 700.00
Miscllaneous prep tools Knives, cutting boards, storage containers, etc. 11$  250.00 |[$ 250.00
[Electric kettle 11$ 40.00 |$ 40.00
IDishwasher GE 24" 1/$ 500.00 |$ 500.00
Dry goods shelving 48"L x 72"H x 18" D 11$ 100.00 |[$ 100.00
Storage shelving 77"L x 72"H x 24" D 2|$  300.00 |$ 600.00
Storage shelving 36"Lx 72"Hx 18" D 1/$ 200.00 |$ 200.00
Container 8'x20' 1/$ 7,500.00 |$ 7,500.00
Buildout Interior walls, electrical, plumbing 1/$ 28,000.00 |$ 28,000.00
Freight Shipping from Oahu for kitchen equipment 1/$ 3,500.00 |$ 3,500.00

Total $ 45,540.00
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